After Recording Return To: Elizabeth Donohue 2901 SW Vesta Street Portland, Oregon 97219

# RESTATEMENT OF BYLAWS RECORDED IN MULTNOMAH COUNTY RECORDS BOOK 2521 PAGE 717, AND RENAMING TO SW OAK CREEK HOMEOWNERS" ASSOCIATION

#### **ARTICLE I**

#### NAME AND LOCATION

1. 1 The name of this Association is SW Oak Creek Homeowners' Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association". The initial principal office of the Association shall be located at the residence of the presiding president of the Association but meetings of Members and directors may be held at such places as may be designated by the Board of Directors. This restatement shall amend and replace all previous Bylaws and amendments thereto governing the property identified as Oak Creek and Oak Creek Estates recorded in Multnomah County Deed Records Book 2051 Page 2222, Book 2315 Page 1400, and Book 2521 Page 717. All provisions of those recorded documents will hereby be amended. What will henceforth be known as SW Oak Creek is located in a portion of the NE 1/4 of Section 23, T.1, R 2W, WM, Multnomah County, Oregon. The following document shall run with and attach to and bind all the real property within Oak Creek and Oak Creek Estates.

## ARTICLE II

## **DEFINITIONS**

- 2.1 "Association" shall mean and refer to SW Oak Creek Homeowners' Association, its successors and assigns.
- 2.2 "Common Area" shall mean all real property, with its related facilities, owned or accumulated by the Association for the common use and enjoyment of the Owners. It shall also include the easement rights to but not limited to the fencing, monuments, landscaping (including SW Oak Creek Bylaws, May 17, 2004

irrigation system(s)) and lighting contained in easements.

- 2.3 "Declarant" shall mean owners of lots in Oak Creek and Oak Creek Estates
- 2.4 "Lot" shall mean and refer to any plot of land shown upon any recorded subdivision map of the properties with the exception of the common area. In the event a platted lot is divided in accordance with the applicable governmental ordinances, rules and regulations and the provisions of the reservations, restrictions and covenants applicable to said lots, the term lot shall include each lot which results from the division of the platted lot.
- 2.5 "Maintenance" as used herein, in the context of the Association's obligations, includes repair, replacement, and upkeep of the SW Oak Creek's common property and areas, including without limitation, any structures, drainage systems, lighting systems, irrigation systems, landscaping, walls, fences, and monuments; all acts of maintenance shall be held to the "as good as or better than the improvement which was initially constructed", standard.
- 2.6 "Member" shall mean and refer to "Owner" as defined herein.
- 2.7 "Owner" shall mean and refer to the record owner, whether one or more persons or entities, of the fee simple title to any lot which is a part of the properties, including contract sellers, but excluding those having such interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation.
- 2.8 "Properties" shall mean and refer to that certain real property, amenities and easements held in the name of the SW Oak Homeowners' Association and such additions thereto as may hereafter be brought within the power and jurisdiction of the Association.

## ARTICLE III

# **MEETINGS OF MEMBERS**

- 3.1 <u>Annual Meetings.</u> The annual meeting of the Members shall be held on or around the first Sunday after Labor Day in September, as chosen by the Board of Directors.
- 3.2 <u>Special Meetings.</u> Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President or by the Board of Directors, or upon written request of Members who are entitled to vote one fourth (1/4) of all votes of the Association. Fractional vote requirements shall be rounded up to next full vote.
- 3.3 Notice of Meetings. Written notice of each meeting of the Members shall be given by, or at the direction of, the Secretary or person authorized to call the meeting, by placing a copy of such notice, postage prepaid, in the US Post Office or by use of electronic mail with delivery SW Oak Creek Bylaws, May 17, 2004

confirmation, at least fifteen (15) days before such meeting to each Member entitled to vote there at, addressed to the Member's postal or electronic address last appearing on the books of the Association, or supplied by such Member to the Association for the purpose of notice. Such notice shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and in the case of a special meeting, the purpose of the meeting. Fractional vote requirements shall be rounded up to next full vote.

- 3.4 Quorum. The presence at the beginning of a meeting of Members entitled to cast, or of proxies entitled to cast, one-fifth (20%) of the votes of the Association shall constitute a quorum for any action except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting, the Members entitled to vote at said meeting shall have the limited power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum as aforesaid shall be present or represented
- 3.5 **Proxies.** At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary or other officer so designated by the Board. All proxies shall be revocable upon written notice delivered to the Secretary and shall automatically cease upon conveyance by the Member of his lot. A proxy is not valid if it is undated or purports to be revocable without notice. A proxy shall terminate one year after its date unless the proxy specifies a shorter term.
- 3.6 <u>Voting Rights of Members.</u> Each lot shall be entitled to only one vote regardless of the number of owners.

## **ARTICLE IV**

# **BOARD OF DIRECTORS SELECTION, TERM OF OFFICE**

- 4.1 <u>Number.</u> The affairs of this Association shall be managed by a board of five (5) Directors.
- 4.2 <u>Term of Office.</u> At the first annual meeting the Members shall elect five (5) Directors. One Director shall be elected for term of one (1) year; two (2) Directors for the period of two years; and two (2) directors for the period of three (3) years. Elected Directors will draw for terms at their first meeting. At each subsequent annual meeting, the Members shall elect a Director for three year terms.
- 4.3 <u>Removal.</u> Any Director may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Members of the Association. In the event of death, resignation or removal of a Director, his or her successor shall be selected by the remaining Members of the Board and shall serve for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor.

- 4.4 <u>Compensation.</u> No director shall receive compensation for any service he or she may render to the Association. However, any director may be reimbursed for his or her actual expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties.
- 4.5 <u>Action Taken Without a Meeting.</u> The directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written approval of all the Directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at a meeting of the Directors.

## **ARTICLE V**

## NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

- 5.1 <u>Nomination.</u> Nomination for election to the Board of Directors shall be from among Members either in writing or in person at a duly called Meeting of the Members. Nominations may also be made from the floor at the annual meeting.
- 5.2 <u>Election.</u> Election to the Board of Directors shall be by secret written ballot. At the election Members or their proxies may cast, in respect to each vacancy, one vote per lot. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

# **ARTICLE VI**

# **MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS**

- 6.1 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held as needed, without notice, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution or ratification of the Board, or may be called by the President.
- 6.2 <u>Special Meetings.</u> Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held when called by the President of the Association, or by any three (3) Directors, after not less than three (3) days notice to each Director, or as otherwise agreed to by the Members.
- 6.3 Quorum. A majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Every act or decision done or made by majority of the Directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board. Proxies will be allowed if granted in writing.

## ARTICLE VII

## POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 7.1 **Powers.** The Board of Directors shall have power to:
- (A). Adopt and publish rules and regulations governing use and maintenance of the Common Area and related facilities; maintenance of landscaping and irrigation system including, without limitation, the fencing and monuments located within easements, the personal conduct of the Members and their guests on the Common Area and facilities; and to establish fines and penalties for the violation thereof;
- (B). Suspend the voting rights of a Member and the right of a Member to use the Common Area and facilities during any period in which such Member shall be in default in the payment of any assessment levied by the Association. Such rights may also be suspended after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for violation of any published rules and regulations;
- (C). Exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to this Association and not reserved to the membership by other provisions adopted in accord with these Bylaws, as amended.
- (D). Declare the office of a Member of the Board of Directors to be vacant in the event such Member shall be absent from three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the Board of Directors; and
- (E) Employ a manager, an independent contractor or such other employees as they deem necessary and to prescribe their duties,
- 7.2 <u>Duties.</u> It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to:
- (A). Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs and to present a statement thereof to the Members at the annual meeting of the Members, or at any special meeting when such statement is requested in writing by Members possessing one-fourth (20%) of the total votes of the Association. Fractional vote requirements shall be rounded up to the next full vote.
- (B). Supervise all officers, agents and employees of the Association, and see that their duties are properly performed.
  - (C). To:

- (1). Fix the amount of the annual assessment against each Lot at least (30) days in advance of each annual assessment period;
- (2). Send written notice of each assessment to every Owner subject thereto at least thirty (30) days in advance of each annual assessment period; and
- (3). Foreclose by lien against any property for which assessments are not paid within ninety (90) days after due date or to bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same.
- (D). Issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- (E). Procure and maintain (1) adequate insurance for all insurable improvements in the common property against loss or damage by fire or other hazards, including extended coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief. The insurance shall cover the full replacement costs of any repair or reconstruction in the event of damage or destruction from any such hazard if the insurance is available at reasonable cost; and (2) Procure and maintain a public liability policy covering all common property and all damage or injury caused by the negligence of the association.
- (F). Cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as it may deem appropriate;
- (G). Provide for the maintenance, repair and replacement of the Common Areas and related facilities including, without limitation, landscaping, irrigation system(s), fencing and monuments located within easements.
  - (H). Administer a reserve account if one is established.
- (I). At least annually shall adopt a budget for the planned community. Within 30 days after adopting the annual budget for the planned community, the board of directors shall provide a summary of the budget to all owners. If the board fails to adopt a budget, the last adopted annual budget shall continue in effect. All assessments shall be deposited in a separate bank account, located within this state, in the name of the association. All expenses of the association shall be paid from the association bank account.
- (J). Keep financial records sufficiently detailed for proper accounting purposes. Within 90 days after the end of the fiscal year, the board of directors shall: (a) Prepare or cause to be prepared an annual financial statement consisting of a balance sheet and income and SW Oak Creek Bylaws, May 17, 2004

expenses statement for the preceding fiscal year; and (b) Distribute to each owner and, upon written request, any mortgagee of a lot, a copy of the annual financial statement.

7.3 **Resolution** By resolution, may adopt reasonable rules governing the frequency, time, location, notice and manner of examination and duplication of association records and the imposition of a reasonable fee for furnishing copies of any documents, information or records described in this section. The fee may include reasonable personnel costs for furnishing the documents, information or records.

#### **ARTICLE VIII**

#### OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

- 8.1 Enumeration of Officers. The officers of this Association shall be a President and Vice President, a Secretary and a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create. Officers may be Members of the Board of Directors. Board Members may be officers. The Treasurer, if a separate office, does not have to be a Member of the Board of Directors.
- 8.2 <u>Election of Officers.</u> The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Members.
- 8.3 <u>Term.</u> The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board and shall each hold office for one (1) year unless he or she shall sooner resign, or shall be removed, or otherwise disqualified to serve.
- 8.4 <u>Special Appointments.</u> The Board may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may from time to time determine.
- 8.5 Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time giving written notice to the Board, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- 8.6 <u>Vacancies.</u> A vacancy in any office may be filled by appointment by the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he or she replaces.
- 8.7 <u>Multiple Offices.</u> The offices of Secretary and Treasure may be held by the same SW Oak Creek Bylaws, May 17, 2004

person. No person shall simultaneously hold more than one (1) of any of the other offices except in the case of special offices created pursuant to Section 4 of this Article.

- 8.8 **Duties.** The duties of the officers are as follows:
- (A). <u>President:</u> The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments and shall co-sign all checks and promissory notes in amounts exceeding one hundred dollars (\$100).
- (B). <u>Vice President:</u> The Vice President shall act in the place and stead of the President in the event of his or her absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise and discharge such other duties as may be required by the Board.
- (C). <u>Secretary:</u> The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board and of the Members; keep the corporate seal of the Association, if one is necessary, and affix it on all papers requiring said seal; serve notice of meetings of the Board and of the Members; keep appropriate current records showing the Members of the Association, together with their addresses, and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.
- (D). <u>Treasurer:</u> The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board of Directors; shall sign all checks and promissory notes of the Association; keep proper books of account; cause all tax returns and other governmental reports to be timely prepared and filed; and shall prepare an annual budget and a statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the membership at its regular annual meeting and deliver a copy of each to the Members. These duties may be delegated by Board approval to a management agent.

# **ARTICLE IX**

# **BOOKS AND RECORDS**

The books, records and papers of the Association shall at all times, during reasonable business hours, be subject to inspection by any Member. The Bylaws of the Association shall be available for inspection by any Member at the principal office of the Association, where copies may be purchased at reasonable cost.

# ARTICLE X

## **ASSESSMENTS**

Each Member is obligated to pay to the Association annual and special assessments which are secured by a lien upon the property against which the assessment is made. Any assessments which are not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date shall bear interest from the due date at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum. A one time late charge of 10% of the delinquent amount shall be charged, on the first of the month after the due date, in addition to the interest rate. The Association may bring an action at law against a Member for collection of all assessments, interest, costs. The Association may foreclose the lien against the property. Interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees for any such action and any appeal thereof shall be added to the amount of such assessment. No Owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessments provided for herein by non-use of the Common Area or abandonment of his or her lot.

#### ARTICLE XI

#### **AMENDMENTS**

- 11.1 Amendments to these Bylaws may be proposed by a majority of the Board of Directors or by at least thirty percent (30%) of the total votes in the Association.
- 11.2 An amendment is not effective unless the amendment is approved by a majority of the total votes the Association in person or by proxy at a duly constituted meeting or by ballot vote. The Board of Directors may conduct a vote of the association by use of the U.S. Mail or electronic mail provisions.
- 11.3 An amendment is not effective unless it is certified by the President and Secretary of the Association as having been adopted in accordance with the bylaws and ORS 94.625.
- 11.4 An amendment is not effective until it is recorded in the Multnomah County Deed Records where the Bylaws were recorded.

#### **ARTICLE XII**

The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of September and end on the 31st day of August of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on the date of the adoption of these Bylaws.

## **ARTICLE XIII**

As used herein, the singular shall include the plural and the plural the singular. The masculine and neuter shall each include the masculine, feminine and neuter, as the context requires. All captions used herein are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall in no way limit any of the provisions of this document.

SW Oak Creek Homeowners' Association Woodlee Heights Homeowners Association Stephenson Children's Care Association Jackson Soccer Club Mnt. Sylvania Little League August 31, 2008

The playing field at Stephenson School is our public park and the center of our community. The lack of restroom facilities had been a problem that limited the use of this important park area. In 2003, a grass roots initiative expanded the value and utility of this public space was by placing an outhouse on the property.

The initial proposal called for neighborhood groups to contribute \$300, which covered the first year's invoices and established a reserve fund in case of damage, with yearly fees of \$170. In 2005 I was unable to send out invoices, so the reserve fund was used to pay for the year's worth of invoices and I accepted personal responsibility for replacement in case of total loss. Financial records are available for review in the SW Oak Creek Homeowners Association records.

For the past few fiscal years (September to September) I have merely been asking groups to write a check to Honeybucket but send it to me. I copy the check, then forward it on to Honeybucket. Thus, Honeybucket receives the payments in the fall, which creates a "prepayment" system. When the prepayments run out, I pay out of my own pocket until the next round of checks arrives.

I have attempted to transfer responsibility to Portland Parks and Recreation without success. Additionally, insurance is not available for the unit.

Please consider how your organization utilizes the playing field at Stephenson Elementary. Checks made out to Honeybucket (Account number 27150) may be sent to me at the address listed below. I will make a copy for the record and then send them on. Additionally, I have requested funds from PCU, who utilized the field for a developmental league camp this summer. They have verbally agreed to pay a one-time fee of \$75, yet a check has not yet been received.

Please let me know of any other groups to send this message to. I would remind each organization that your contribution is voluntary. Additionally, please note that this is a grass roots plan implemented by a community minded volunteer.

Your continued support would be greatly appreciated. When and if your support ends, the outhouse will be removed from the premises.

Elizabeth Donohue 11927 SW Dickinson Court Portland, OR 97219 503-245-8394